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We are pleased to provide the following clarification responses to questions received: 

1 Ref: C1_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

The RFP states that Dynamics CRM was already procured. The Product Dynamics CRM is no longer 

supported by Microsoft. The successor Product is Dynamics Sales (a cloud software). The assumption 

is, that Microsoft Dynamics Sales will be used for the Project, is this correct? 

Does the ECMWF profit from any licence discounts provided by Microsoft (e.g. Not for Profit discounts 

etc.)? 

Answer: 

The successor Product for Dynamics CRM is Microsoft Dynamics 365. ECMWF will be using the 

appropriate successor Products from Microsoft as and when those are updated. 

Through its Enterprise Agreement with Microsoft, ECMWF benefits from the Government DTA 

discount programme. 

Note that according to section A1.7.2.6 of the RFP document, Proposers should include the cost of the 

licences required for the pilot phase (WP1) in their price proposal. The estimated maximum number 

of licences is 30. Also note, that depending on the cost quoted by Proposers for the pilot phase 

licences, ECMWF may consider securing these licences through its own Enterprise Agreement with 

Microsoft. This will be further discussed with the preferred Proposer during negotiations. Licences 

required for the implementation of the subsequent phases are expected to be secured by ECMWF 

separately. 

2 Ref: C2_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

One KPI for WP1 is "The pilot system connects to/makes use of existing/consolidated data sources”. 

What are these data sources and to what extend is an integration needed? Any other than Confluence 

and Outlook? 

Answer: 

To begin with we anticipate “moving” all manually maintained information (on Confluence pages, in 

spreadsheets, etc.) to the system, i.e. so that we use the CRM instead of multiple Confluence pages to 

input/process data. However, we anticipate needing to be able to show outputs dynamically on 

Confluence pages, e.g. using APIs to generate tables and reports and provide lookup lists for things 

that are in Confluence. Outlook integration is also required in the first phase. 

3 Ref: C3_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

Another KPI for WP1 states that "Data about pre-existing mission is brought over to the prototype in 

a useable format". To achieve this it is necessary that the current source system for mission data 

(Confluence) is able to provide the data in a format which is usable by the import routines from 

Dynamics. Is this the case? 
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Answer: 

The mission data is mostly available via the Confiform API this year, or can be downloaded to json, csv 

etc. What we don't know is whether there are suitable matching fields in the CRM or how best to 

integrate with our workflows. 

4 Ref: C4_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

A further KPI for WP1 is "The system caters for the user stories provided". Currently no user stories 

are provided and for this it is difficult to estimate the effort for implementing the user stories. Is it 

either possible to provide the already existing user stories or can the proposal contain a lump sum 

based on previous experience for implementing the user stories which needs to be amended when 

the user stories are finalised. 

Answer: 

We started drafting some user stories and requirements, however these are stored on a Confluence 

page which is not available to users outside ECMWF. An outline of the most representative user stories 

is provided below: 

• As a CRM user, I want to email all previous attendees of an event; 

• As a user of the CRM, using the CRM is no more effort than the previous way to do the same 

thing; 

• As a user of the CRM, I want to understand why we got in touch, what happened; 

• As an administrator of the CMR, I want to assign role to users; 

• A user of the CRM wants to record sensitive information; 

• A 'customer' in the CRM wants to see the information stored on them; 

• As a user of the CRM, I want to record engagement with 'customer'; 

• A user of the CRM wants to enter basic information about a customer. 

The successful Proposer will obtain access to these user stories at the start of the contract and we 

would want help finalising them; that should be a piece of work within the proposal. Proposers may 

include a lump sum in the Pricing Tables, based on their previous experience, for implementing the 

user stories. 

5 Ref: C5_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

The KPIs for WP2 and WP3 are not yet defined. The scope of these Work Packages is very broad and 

makes it difficult to estimate the need of time and resources. We can make estimates based on past 

experience but need to amend these estimates after KPIs are defined. Is this okay for the proposal? 

Answer: 

As CRM will be new to ECMWF, we wanted to focus on phase 1 only for now as its outcomes may 

affect future phases, hence future phases are only broad outlines at this time. We expect each next 

phase to be more fully defined in the closing of the previous phase, based on an assessment of benefits 

achieved. 
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Simply put, we want to start with a pilot (one team) and a couple of key integrations (Outlook, manual 

work moving to CRM) and seeing how it works for us before going further. Therefore, at this stage 

Proposers are requested to provide estimates for WP2 and WP3 based on their past experience. 

Estimates for implementing activities in future phases will be refined during the closing of the previous 

phase. 

6 Ref: C6_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

"Work Package 3 (WP3): Full roll-out and integration 

This work package will only be carried out if the pilot WP1 and WP2 are complete and shown to be 

delivering the required benefits." 

It will take time until WP2 will be showing benefits. When can WP3 realistically start? 

Answer: 

In accordance with the provisions of section “Indicative Timetable for Work Packages”, ECMWF 

expects that the pilot (WP1) is finalised by the end of Q4 2023, including any user acceptance testing 

period. ECMWF expects a fully integrated CRM system with buy-in from stakeholders by the end of 

the contract (i.e. December 2024). 

While we agree that WP2 benefits may take time to manifest, Proposers are invited to propose a more 

detailed and realistic timetable for the entire contract, including WP2 and WP3, based on their past 

experience and taking into account, as much as possible, the indicative timetable described above. 

Proposers may propose a timetable going beyond the indicated December 2024 contract end, if this 

makes it more realistic. 

7 Ref: C7_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

Would it be realistic / feasible to be running the pilot phase only until September 2023? Would 

benefits already be available? 

Answer: 

According to Work Package 1 description, the system will initially be used by around 20 to 30 people 

to begin with. Proposers may propose a different timetable for the Pilot phase based on their past 

experience and ECMWF could consider focusing on an showing benefit for a smaller group of key 

users, e.g. members of one Section (5-7 people). 

8 Ref: C8_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

Personnel. We are working with a set of freelancers via a cooperation with different recruitment 

agencies. These free lancers will receive different work packages from us and report directly to us. To 

our understanding these freelancers are not subcontractors as they are reporting to us and we are 

responsible for the work results. The difference to employees is that they do not work on a payroll 

basis but on the basis of professional fees and hiring fees to the recruitment agencies. For these 
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freelancers we apply professional fees to our clients which will also be the basis for the cost plan for 

this proposal. Is this in line with the regulations or do we have to apply a different approach. 

Answer: 

We confirm that this approach is in line with our practice. Please refer to the “Costs Instruction Sheet” 

of the “Annex 2 – Template Pricing Tables and Deliverables” document. Nevertheless, Proposers 

should note that the share of the total budget which is allocated to freelancers will be evaluated as a 

risk-factor for ECMWF and may be subject to further discussions with the preferred Proposer during 

negotiations; it is therefore advisable to limit such type of costs to the strictly necessary. 

9 Ref: C9_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

One of the risks we have identified is an unexpected and hopefully unlikely unavailability of the main 

contact person. As a contingency plan we will cooperate with an experienced freelancer who takes 

higher professional fees than us. Is it possible to plan for this in a contingency budget position? 

Answer: 

Note that freelancers cannot assume leading roles in the contract, unless temporarily or if justified as 

extreme benefit for the contract delivery. It is advisable to propose several contingency plans. 

Contingency budgets will be part of the overall price which will be used for comparison purposes 

during the evaluation. 

10 Ref: C10_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

It is not clear to us how to proceed regarding VAT exemption. Do we have to request the German tax 

authority to exempt us from VAT payment for this project? 

Answer: 

Please refer to Clause 4.6 of the Agreement for Copernicus Services (VAT and Other Taxes). For general 

guidance, please refer to the following guidance document, published at the ECMWF website: 

https://www.ecmwf.int/sites/default/files/medialibrary/2022-

06/ECMWF_VAT_guidance_note_for_suppliers.pdf 

11 Ref: C11_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

In the document "Annex 2 - Template Pricing Tables and Deliverables" it is asked whether we are an 

SME. We are not. According to the definition at http://ec.europa.eu/growth/smes/business-friendly-

environment/sme-definition/, we are a Microenterprise. We could not find any restrictions regarding 

this fact with regards to the eligibility criteria. 

Answer: 

The European Commission uses the term SMEs as a generic term for micro-enterprises and small and 

medium-sized enterprises. In accordance with that concept, all enterprises which employ less than 

250 persons and whose annual turnover does not exceed Euro 50 million are regarded as SMEs. 

https://www.ecmwf.int/sites/default/files/medialibrary/2022-06/ECMWF_VAT_guidance_note_for_suppliers.pdf
https://www.ecmwf.int/sites/default/files/medialibrary/2022-06/ECMWF_VAT_guidance_note_for_suppliers.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/growth/smes/business-friendly-environment/sme-definition/
http://ec.europa.eu/growth/smes/business-friendly-environment/sme-definition/
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For the avoidance of doubt, ECMWF does not impose any restrictions with regards to the SME or 

micro-enterprise status of prospective bidders which respond to competitive processes issued under 

the Copernicus Programme. Eligibility criteria for participating in competitive processes are described 

in section 2.3.1 of the RFP document. 

12 Ref: C12_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

"The Proposer shall include milestones in the implementation plan where, based on any exploration 

work and upon discussion with the User Outreach and Engagement team, decisions can be made on 

the further way forward. This may lead to optional work packages, which shall already be anticipated 

in the Proposal and may be fine-tuned during the negotiation phase with the successful Proposer." 

When shall these exploration work and discussions take place?   

Answer: 

We would like the Proposer to make a proposal which includes these exploration work and discussions 

in the timeline at an appropriate time, based on their experience. 

13 Ref: C13_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

 Where shall trainings take place? Bonn? Reading? Bologna? 

Answer: 

We anticipate that training could take place online. If physical training is required, then this is most 

likely to be in Bonn to begin with, as that is where most of the Pilot team is based. It would be useful 

to see quotes for training days in all three locations however. 

14 Ref: C14_CJS2_157a 
Question: 

"contributing C3S/CAMS reporting for past and planning for future activities". What is meant by this? 

Input provided for internal reports? 

Answer: 

Yes, we have EC and internal reporting requirements (e.g. on user uptake and use of the tool), which 

we aim to use the CRM to help with. 


